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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN DIGITAL MULTIMETERS, Investigation No. 337-TA-588
AND PRODUCTS WITH MULTIMETER

FUNCTIONALITY

ISSUANCE OF GENERAL EXCLUSION ORDER AND CEASE AND DESIST ORDERS;
TERMINATION OF THE INVESTIGATION

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.

ACTION:  Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has issued a
general exclusion order and cease and desist orders directed to two defaulting domestic
respondents in the above-identified investigation. The investigation is terminated.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Michael K. Haldenstein, Office of the
General Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C.
20436, telephone (202) 205-3041. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection
with this investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45
a.m. to 5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E
Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information
concerning the Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server
(http://'www.usitc.gov). The public record for this investigation may be viewed on the
Commission's electronic docket (EDIS) at http.//edis. usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are
advised that information on this matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD
terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission instituted this investigation on
November 13, 2006, based on a complaint filed on October 6, 2006, and supplemented on
October 27 and 30, 2006, by Fluke Corp. of Everett, Washington, alleging violations of section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation,
and the sale within the United States after importation of certain digital multimeters and products
with multimeter functionality by reason of infringement of United States Trademark Registration
No. 2,796,480 (“the ‘480 mark™) and also by reason of infringement of trade dress, the threat or
effect of which is to destroy or substantially injure an industry in the United States. 71 Fed. Reg.
661940 (November 13, 2006). Complainant requested that the Commission issue a general
exclusion order and cease and desist orders. The complaint named eighteen respondents in
China, Hong Kong, and the United States. Fourteen respondents were terminated from the
investigation by settlement agreement, consent order, or both. The four remaining respondents
were found in default.



On July 3, 2007, complainant filed a motion seeking summary determination of violation
of section 337. On January 14, 2008, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) issued an
initial determination (“ID”) granting complainant’s motion for summary determination of
violation of section 337 as to the four defaulting respondents. He recommended issuance of a
general exclusion order, issuance of cease and desist orders against respondents Electronix
Express and HandsOnTools, and that the amount of bond for temporary importation during the
Presidential review period be set at 100 percent of the entered value of the articles concerned.
No petitions for review were filed.

On February 12, 2008, the Commission determined not to review the ID and requested
written submissions on the issues of remedy, the public interest, and bonding. On February 28
and March 6, 2008, respectively, the complainant Fluke and the Investigative Attorney (“IA”)
filed briefs and the TA filed a reply brief on these issues.

Having reviewed the record in this investigation, including the ALJ’s recommended
determination and the parties’” written submissions, the Commission has determined that the
appropriate form of relief is a general exclusion order prohibiting the unlicensed entry of digital
multimeters that infringe the ‘480 mark or Fluke’s protected trade dress and cease and desist
orders directed to Electronix Express and HandsOnTools.

The Commission has further determined that the public interest factors enumerated in
section 337(d)(1) (19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1)) do not preclude issuance of the general exclusion
order. Finally, the Commission determined that the amount of bond to permit temporary
importation during the Presidential review period (19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)) shall be in the amount of
100 percent of the value of the digital multimeters that are subject to the order. The
Commission’s order and opinion were delivered to the President and to the United States Trade
Representative on the day of their issuance.

The authority for the Commission's determination is contained in section 337 of the Tariff
Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, and in sections 210.42-46 of the Commission's
Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.42-46.

By order of the Commission.

Secretary to the Commission

Issued: May 14, 2008



UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN DIGITAL MULTIMETERS, Inv. No. 337-TA-588

AND PRODUCTS WITH MULTIMETER
FUNCTIONALITY

GENERAL EXCLUSION ORDER

The Commission has determined that there is a violation of section 337 of
the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1337) based on the unlawful importation and
sale of certain digital multimeters and products with multimeter functionality that
infringe (1) United States Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480 and (2) the trade
dress of certain of Fluke’s digital multimeters and products with multimeter
functionality (“protected trade dress). The protected trade dress is as follows:

digital multimeters and products with multimeter functionality that

have a contrasting color combination of a dark-colored body or

face and a contrasting yellow border, frame, molding, overlay,

holster or perimeter.

See Unreviewed Initial Determination at 6.

Having reviewed the record in this investigation, including the written
submissions of the parties, the Commission has made its determination on the
issues of remedy, the public interest, and bonding. The Commission has
determined that the criteria for issuance of a general exclusion order have been
met in this investigation. Accordingly, the Commission has determined to issue a

general exclusion order prohibiting the unlicensed importation of infringing

digital multimeters and products with multimeter functionality.
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The Commission has further determined that the public interest factors
enumerated in 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d) do not preclude issuance of the general
exclusion order, and that the bond during the Presidential review period shall be
in the amount of 100 percent of the entered value of the articles in question.

Accordingly, the Commission hereby ORDERS that:

1. Digital multimeters and products with multimeter functionality that (i)
infringe U.S. Registered Trademark No. 2,796,480 or any marks confusingly
similar thereto or that are otherwise misleading as to source, origin, or
sponsorship, or (ii) bear Fluke’s protected trade dress or any trade dress
confusingly similar thereto or that are otherwise misleading as to source, origin or
sponsorship are excluded from entry into the United States for consumption, entry
for consumption, except under license of the trademark and protected trade dress
owner or as provided by law.

2. For the purpose of assisting U.S. Customs and Border Protection in
the enforcement of this Order, and without in any way limiting the scope of the
Order, the Commission has attached to this Order as Exhibit 1 a copy of a series
of full-color photographs of exemplary Fluke digital multimeters and products
with multimeter functionality having the aforesaid trademark and trade dress. The
Commission has also attached the relevant trademark registration to this Order as
Exhibit 2 and full-color photographs of devices that have been found to infringe

the trademark and protected trade dress as Exhibit 3.
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3. Notwithstanding paragraph 1 of this Order, the aforesaid digital
multimeters and products with multimeter functionality are entitled to entry into
the United States for consumption, entry for consumption from a foreign trade
zone, or withdrawal from a warehouse for consumption, under bond in the amount
of 100 percent of entered value pursuant to subsection (j) of section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)), and the Presidential
memorandum for the United States Trade Representative of July 21, 2005 (70
Fed. Reg. 43251) from the day after this Order is received by the United States
Trade Representative until such time as the United States Trade Representative
notifies the Commission that this Order is approved or disapproved but, in any
event, not later than 60 days after the date of receipt of this Order. However, this
provision does not exempt infringing articles from seizures under the trademark
laws enforced by U.S. Customs and Border Protection, most notably 19 U.S.C. §
1526(e) and 19 U.S.C. § 1595a(c)(2)(C) in connection with 15 U.S.C. § 1124.

4. In accordance with 19 U.S.C. § 1337(1), the provisions of this Order
shall not apply to digital multimeters and products with multimeter functionality
that are imported by and for the use of the United States, or imported for, and to
be used for, the United States with the authorization or consent of the
Government.

5. Complainant Fluke Corporation shall file a written statement with the
Commission, made under oath, each year on the anniversary of the issuance of

this Order stating whether Fluke Corporation continues to use each of the
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aforesaid trademark and protected trade dress in commerce in the United States in
connection with digital multimeters and products with multimeter functionality,
and whether any of the aforesaid trademark or protected trade dress has been
abandoned, canceled, or rendered invalid or unenforceable.

6. The Commission may modify this Order in accordance with the
procedures described in section 210.76 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and
Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.76).

7. The Secretary to the Commission shall serve copies of this Order upon
each party of record in this investigation and upon the Department of Health and
Human Services, the Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission, and
U.S. Customs and Border Protection.

8. Notice of this Order shall be published in the Federal Register.

S WS-

Marilyn R. @)ﬁott
Secretary to the Commission

By Order of the Commission.

Issued: May 14, 2008
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
United States Patent and Trademark Office

December 05, 2005

THE ATTACHED U.S. TRADEMARK REGISTRATION 2,796,480 IS
CERTIFIED TO BE A TRUE COPY OF THE REGISTRATION ISSUED BY
THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE WHICH
REGISTRATION IS IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT.

REGISTERED FOR A TERM OF 10 YEARS FROM . December 23, 2003

SAID RECORDS SHOW TITLE TO BE IN:. Registrant

By Authority of the .
Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual Property

and Director of the United States Patent and Trademark Office f)

A LIAMS
Certifying Officer

=1



Int. Cl.: 9
Prior U.S. Cls.: 21, 23, 26, 36 and 38

United States Patent and Trademark Office

Reg. No. 2,796,480
Registered Dec. 23, 2003

TRADEMARK
PRINCIPAL REGISTER

FLUKE CORPORATION (WASHINGTON COR-
PORATION) -

6920 SEAWAY BOULEVARD
EVERETT, WA 98203

. FOR: ELECTRONIC TEST AND MEASURING
INSTRUMENTS AND DEVICES, AND PORTABLE
ELECTRONIC TEST TOOLS, NAMELY, DIGITAL
MULTIMETERS, [N CLASS 9 (U.S, CLS. 21, 23, 26, 36
AND 38).

FIRST USE (-0-1988; IN COMMERCE 0-0-1988.

THE DRAWING IS LINED FOR THE COLORS
DARK GRAY AND YELLOW.

THE MARK CONSISTS OF THE COLORS DARK
GRAY AND YELLOW AS APPLIED TO THE
GOODS. THE DOTTED OUTLINE OF THE GOODS
IS INTENDED TO SHOW THE POSITION OF THE
MARK AND IS NOT A PART OF THE MARK.

SEC. 2(T)-
SER. NO. 75-934,005, FILED 3-3-2000.

GLENN CLARK, EXAMINING ATTORNEY
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN DIGITAL MULTIMETERS, Inv. No. 337-TA-588

AND PRODUCTS WITH MULTIMETER
FUNCTIONALITY

ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT Electronix Express cease and desist
from conducting any of the following activities in the United States: importing,
selling, marketing, advertising, distributing, offering for sale, transferring (except
for exportation), and soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for, digital multimeters
and products with multimeter functionality that are covered by United States
Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480 (“the ‘480 mark™) and/or digital
multimeter or products with multimeter functionality having a dark-colored body
or face surrounded by a yellow border, frame, molding, overlay, perimeter, holder
and/or holster, in violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended,
19 U.S.C. § 1337.

L Definitions

As used in this Order:

(A) “Commission” shall mean the United States International Trade
Commission.

(B) “Complainant” shall mean Fluke Corporation (“Fluke™) of Everett,

Washington.
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(C) “Respondent” means Electronix Express, a division of R.S.R.
Electronics, Inc., 365 Blair Road, Avenel, New Jersey 07001.

(D) “Person” shall mean an individual, or any non-governmental
partnership, firm, association, corporation, or other legal or business entity other
than Respondent or its majority owned or controlled subsidiaries, successors, or
assigns.

(E) “United States” shall mean the fifty States, the District of Columbia,
and Puerto Rico.

(F) The terms “import” and “importation” refer to importation for entry
for consumption under the Customs laws of the United States.

(G) The term “protected trade dress” shall mean digital multimeter or
products with multimeter functionality having a dark-colored body or face
surrounded by a yellow border, frame, molding, overlay, perimeter, holder and/or
holster a dark-colored body or face surrounded by a yellow border, holder and/or
holster. See Exhibit A (photographs of exemplary Fluke digital multimeters).

(H) The term “covered products” shall mean digital multimeters and
products with multimeter functionality that are covered by United States
Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480 (“the ‘480 mark™) or Fluke’s protected
trade dress.

II. Applicability
The provisions of this Cease and Desist Order shall apply to Respondent

and to any of its principals, stockholders, officers, directors, employees, agents,
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licensees, distributors, controlled (whether by stock ownership or otherwise) and
majority-owned business entities, successors, and assigns, and to each of them,
insofar as they are engaging in conduct prohibited by Section Ill, infra, for, with,

or otherwise on behalf of Respondent.

III. Conduct Prohibited

The following conduct in the United States of Respondent is prohibited by
the Order. While the trademark and protected trade dress remain valid and
enforceable, Respondent shall not:

(A) import or sell for importation into the United States covered products;

(B) market, distribute, offer for sale, sell, or otherwise transfer (except for
exportation), in the United States imported covered products;

(C) advertise imported covered products;

(D) solicit U.S. agents or distributors for imported covered products; or

(E) aid or abet other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale

after importation, transfer, or distribution of covered products.

IV.  Conduct Permitted

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Order, specific conduct
otherwise prohibited by the terms of this Order shall be permitted if, in a written |
instrument, the owner of United States Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480

(“the ‘480 mark”) or the Fluke’s trade dress licenses or authorizes such specific
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conduct, or such specific conduct is related to the importation or sale of covered

products by or for the United States.

V. Reporting

For purposes of this reporting requirement, the reporting periods shall
commence on January 1st of each year and shall end on the subsequent December
31st. However, the first report required under this section shall cover the period
from the date of issuance of this Order through December 31st. This reporting
requirement shall continue in force until such time as Respondent will have
truthfully reported, in two consecutive timely filed reports, that it has no inventory
of covered products in the United States.

Within thirty (30) days of the last day of the reporting period, Respondent
shall report to the Commission the quantity in units and the value in dollars of
covered products that Respondent has imported or sold in the United States after
importation during the reporting period and the quantity in units and value in
dollars of reported covered products that remain in inventory in the United States
at the end of the reporting period.

Any failure to make the required report or the filing of any false or
inaccurate report shall constitute a violation of this Order, and the submission of a
false or inaccurate report may be referred to the U.S. Department of Justice as a

possible criminal violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.



VI Record-keeping and Inspection

(A) For the purpose of securing compliance with this Order, Respondent
shall retain any and all records relating to the sale, offer for sale, marketing, or
distribution in the United States of covered products, made and received in the
usual and ordinary course of business, whether in detail or in summary form, for a
period of three (3) years from the close of the fiscal year to which they pertain.

(B) For the purpose of determining or securing compliance with this
Order and for no other purpose, and subject to any privilege recognized by the
federal courts of the United States, duly authorized representatives of the
Commission, upon reasonable written notice by the Commission or its staff, shall
be permitted access and the right to inspect and copy in Respondent’s principal
offices during office hours, and in the presence of counsel or other representatives
if Respondent so choose, all books, ledgers, accounts, correspondence,
memoranda, and other records and documents, both in detail and in summary

form as are required to be retained by subparagraph VI(A) of this Order.

VII. Service of Cease and Desist Order

Respondent is ordered and directed to:

(A)  Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the effective date of this Order,
a copy of this Order upon each of its respective officers, directors, managing

agents, agents, and employees who have any responsibility for the importation,
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marketing, distribution, or sale of imported covered products in the United States;

(B)  Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the succession of any persons
referred to in subparagraph VII (A) of this Order, a copy of the Order upon each
successor; and

(C)  Maintain such records as will show the name, title, and address of
each person upon whom the Order has been served, as described in subparagraphs
VII(A) and VII(B) of this Order, together with the date on which service was
made.

The obligations set forth in subparagraphs VII(B) and VII(C) shall remain
in effect until the trademark and trade dress have been abandoned, canceled, or

rendered invalid or unenforceable.

VIII. Confidentiality

Any request for confidential treatment of information obtained by the
Commission pursuant to Sections V and VI of this Order should be in accordance
with Commission Rule 201.6, 19 C.F.R. § 201.6. For all reports for which
confidential treatment is sought, Respondent must provide a public version of

such report with confidential information redacted.

IX. Enforcement
Violation of this Order may result in any of the actions specified in section

210.75 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. § 210.75,
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including an assessment of civil penalties in accordance with section 337(f) of the
Tariff Act of 1930, 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f), and any other action as the Commission

may deem appropriate. In determining whether Respondent is in violation of this
Order, the Commission may infer facts adverse to Respondent if Respondent fails

to provide adequate or timely information.

X. Modification
The Commission may amend this Order on its own motion or in
accordance with the procedure described in section 210.76 of the Commission's

Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. § 210.76.

XI. Bonding

The conduct prohibited by Section III of this Order may be continued
during the sixty (60) day period in which this Order is under review by the United
States Trade Representative under authority delegated by the President, 70 Fed
Reg 43251 (July 21, 2005), subject to Respondent posting a bond of in the amount
of 100% of entered value per unit of the covered products. This bond provision
does not apply to conduct that is otherwise permitted by Section IV of this Order.
Covered products imported on or after the date of issuance of this order are
subject to the entry bond as set forth in the general exclusion order issued by the
Commission, and are not subject to this bond provision.

The bond is to be posted in accordance with the procedures established by
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the Commission for the posting of bonds by complainants in connection with the
issuance of temporary exclusion orders. See Commission Rule 210.68, 19 C.F.R.
§ 210.68. The bond and any accompanying documentation is to be provided to
and approved by -the Commission prior to the commencement of conduct which is
otherwise prohibited by Section III of this Order.

The bond is to be forfeited in the event that the United States Trade
Representative approves, or does not disapprove within the review period, this
Order, unless the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, in a final
judgment, reverses any Commission final determination and order as to
Respondent on appeal, or unless Respondent exports the products subject to this
bond or destroys them and provides certification to that effect satisfactory to the
Commission.

The bond is to be released in the event the United States Trade
Representative disapproves this Order and no subsequent order is issued by the
Commission and approved, or not disapproved, by the United States Trade
Representative, upon service on Respondent of an order issued by the
Commission based upon application therefor made by Respondent to the

Commission.



By Order of the Commission.

Marilyn R. Abbo
Secretary to the Commission

Issued: May 14, 2008
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN DIGITAL MULTIMETERS, Inv. No. 337-TA-588

AND PRODUCTS WITH MULTIMETER
FUNCTIONALITY

ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT HandsOnTools cease and desist
from conducting any of the following activities in the United States: importing,
selling, marketing, advertising, distributing, offering for sale, transferring (except
for exportation), and soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for, digital multimeters
and products with multimeter functionality that are covered by United States
Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480 (“the “480 mark™) and/or digital
multimeter or products with multimeter functionality having a dark-colored body
or face surrounded by a yellow border, frame, molding, overlay, perimeter, holder
and/or holster, in violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended,
19 U.S.C. § 1337.

I. Definitions

As used in this Order:

(A) “Commission” shall mean the United States International Trade
Commission.

(B) “Complainant” shall mean Fluke Corporation (“Fluke”) of Everett,

Washington.
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(C) “Respondent” means HandsOnTools, 1001 -A E Harmony Rd Suite:
332, Fort Collins, Colorado 80525.

(D) “Person” shall mean an individual, or any non-governmental
partnership, firm, association, corporation, or other legal or business entity other
than Respondent or its majority owned or controlled subsidiaries, successors, or
assigns.

(E) “United States” shall mean the fifty States, the District of Columbia,
and Puerto Rico.

(F) The terms “import™ and “importation” refer to importation for entry
for consumption under the Customs laws of the United States.

(G) The term “protected trade dress” shall mean digital multimeter or
products with multimeter functionality having a dark-colored body or face
surrounded by a yellow border, frame, molding, overlay, perimeter, holder and/or
holster a dark-colored body or face surrounded by a yellow border, holder and/or
holster. See Exhibit A (photographs of exemplary Fluke digital multimeters).

(H) The term “covered products™ shall mean digital multimeters and
products with multimeter functionality that are covered by United States
Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480 (“the *480 mark™) or Fluke’s protected
trade dress.

IL Applicability
The provisions of this Cease and Desist. Order shall apply to Respondent

and to any of its principals, stockholders, officers, directors, employees, agents,
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licensees, distributors, controlled (whether by stock ownership or otherwise) and
majority-owned business entities, successors, and assigns, and to each of them,
insofar as they are engaging in conduct prohibited by Section III, infra, for, with,

or otherwise on behalf of Respondent.

III.  Conduct Prohibited

The following conduct in the United States of Respondent is prohibited by
the Order. While the trademark and protected trade dress remain valid and
enforceable, Respondent shall not:

(A) import or sell for importation into the United States covered products;

(B) market, distribute, offer for sale, sell, or otherwise transfer (except for
exportation), in the United States imported covered products;

(C) advertise imported covered products;

(D) solicit U.S. agents or distributors for imported covered products; or

(E) aid or abet other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale

after importation, transfer, or distribution of covered products.

IV.  Conduct Permitted

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Order, specific conduct
otherwise prohibited by the terms of this Order shall be permitted if, in a written
instrument, the owner of United States Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480

(“the ‘480 mark™) or the Fluke’s trade dress licenses or authorizes such specific
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conduct, or such specific conduct is related to the importation or sale of covered

products by or for the United States.

V. Reporting

For purposes of this reporting requirement, the reporting periods shall
commence on January 1st of each year and shall end on the subsequent December
31st. However, the first report required under this section shall cover the period
from the date of issuance of this Order through December 31st. This reporting
requirement shall continue in force until such time as Respondent will have
truthfully reported, in two consecutive timely filed reports, that it has no inventory
of covered products in the United States.

Within thirty (30) days of the last day of the reporting period, Respondent
shall report to the Commission the quantity in units and the value in dollars of
covered products that Respondent has imported or sold in the United States after
importation during the reporting period and the quantity in units and value in
dollars of reported covered products that remain in inventory in the United States
at the end of the reporting period.

Any failure to make the required report or the filing of any false or
inaccurate report shall constitute a violation of this Order, and the submission of a
false or inaccurate report may be referred to the U.S. Department of Justice as a

possible criminal violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.



VL Record-keeping and Inspection

(A) For the purpose of securing compliance with this Order, Respondent
shall retain any and all records relating to the sale, offer for sale, marketing, or
distribution in the United States of covered products, made and received in the
usual and ordinary course of business, whether in detail or in summary form, for a
period of three (3) years from the close of the fiscal year to which they pertain.

(B) For the purpose of determining or securing compliance with this
Order and for no other purpose, and subject to any privilege recognized by the
federal courts of the United States, duly authorized representatives of the
Commission, upon reasonable written notice by the Commission or its staff, shall
be permitted access and the right to inspect and copy in Respondent’s principal
offices during office hours, and in the presence of counsel or other representatives
if Respondent so choose, all books, ledgers, accounts, correspondence,
memoranda, and other records and documents, both in detail and in summary

form as are required to be retained by subparagraph VI(A) of this Order.

VII. Service of Cease and Desist Order

Respondent is ordered and directed to:

(A)  Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the effective date of this Order,
a copy of this Order upon each of its respective officers, directors, managing

agents, agents, and employees who have any responsibility for the importation,
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marketing, distribution, or sale of imported covered products in the United States;

(B)  Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the succession of any persons
referred to in subparagraph VII (A) of this Order, a copy of the Order upon each
successor; and

(C)  Maintain such records as will show the name, title, and address of
each person upon whom the Order has been served, as described in subparagraphs
VII(A) and VII(B) of this Order, together with the date on which service was
made.

The obligations set forth in subparagraphs VII(B) and VII(C) shall remain
in effect until the trademark and trade dress have been abandoned, canceled, or

rendered invalid or unenforceable.

VIII. Confidentiality

Any request for confidential treatment of information obtained by the
Commission pursuant to Sections V and VI of this Order should be in accordance
with Commission Rule 201.6, 19 C.F.R. § 201.6. For all reports for which
confidential treatment is sought, Respondent must provide a public version of

such report with confidential information redacted.

IX. Enforcement
Violation of this Order may result in any of the actions specified in section

210.75 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. § 210.75,
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including an assessment of civil penalties in accordance with section 337(f) of the
Tariff Act of 1930, 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f), and any other action as the Commission

may deem appropriate. In determining whether Respondent is in violation of this
Order, the Commission may infer facts adverse to Respondent if Respondent fails

to provide adequate or timely information.

X. Modification
The Commission may amend this Order on its own motion or in
accordance with the procedure described in section 210.76 of the Commission's

Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. § 210.76.

XI. Bonding

The conduct prohibited by Section III of this Order may be continued
during the sixty (60) day period in which this Order is under review by the United
States Trade Representative under authority delegated by the President, 70 Fed
Reg 43251 (July 21, 2005), subject to Respondent posting a bond of in the amount
of 100% of entered value per unit of the covered products. This bond provision
does not apply to conduct that is otherwise permitted by Section IV of this Order.
Covered products imported on or after the date of issuance of this order are
subject to the entry bond as set forth in the general exclusion order issued by the
Commission, and are not subject to this bond provision.

The bond is to be posted in accordance with the procedures established by
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the Commission for the posting of bonds by complainants in connection with the
issuance of temporary exclusion orders. See Commission Rule 210.68, 19 C.F.R.
§ 210.68. The bond and any accompanying documentation is to be provided to
and approved by the Commission prior to the commencement of conduct which is
otherwise prohibited by Section III of this Order.

The bond is to be forfeited in the event that the United States Trade
Representative approves, or does not disapprove within the review period. this
Order, unless the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, in a final
judgment, reverses any Commission final determination and order as to
Respondent on appeal, or unless Respondent exports the products subject to this
bond or destroys them and provides certification to that effect satisfactory to the
Commission.

The bond is to be released in the event the United States Trade
Representative disapproves this Order and no subsequent order is issued by the
Commission and approved, or not disapproved, by the United States Trade
Representative, upon service on Respondent of an order issued by the
Commission based upon application therefor made by Respondent to the

Commission.



By Order of the Commission.

Marilyn R. Abbétt

Secretary to the Commission

Issued: May 14, 2008
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of

CERTAIN DIGITAL MULTIMETERS,
AND PRODUCTS WITH MULTIMETER
FUNCTIONALITY

Inv. No. 337-TA-588

COMMISSION OPINION

BACKGROUND

The Commission instituted this investigation on November 13, 2006, based on a
complaint filed on October 6, 2006, and supplemented on October 27 and 30, 2006, by Fluke
Corp. (“Fluke”) of Everett, Washington, alleging violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of
1930 (“section 337") in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, and the
sale within the United States after importation of certain digital multimeters and products with
multimeter functionality by reason of infringement of United States Trademark Registration No.
2,796,480 (“the ‘480 mark’) and also by reason of infringement of trade dress, the threat or effect
of which is to destroy or substantially injure an industry in the United States. 71 Fed. Reg.
661940 (Nov. 13, 2006). Complainant requested that the Commission issue a general exclusion
order and cease and desist orders. The complaint named eighteen respondents in China, Hong
Kong, and the United States. Fourteen respondents were terminated from the investigation by
settlement agreement, consent order, or both. The four remaining respondents have been found
in default.

On July 3, 2007, complainant filed a motion seeking summary determination of violation

of section 337. Complainant also requested that the administrative law judge (“ALJ”)
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recommend a general exclusion order, cease and desist orders against respondents
HandsOnTools and Electronix Express, and a 100 percent bond during the Presidential review
period. On July 13, 2007, the Commission investigative attorney (“IA”) filed a response in
support of the motion, supplemented on July 18. No other responses were received.

On January 14, 2008, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination (“ID”’) (Order No. 22)
granting complainant’s motion for summary determination of a violation of section 337 with
respect to the defaulting respondents. The ALJ also made a Recommended Determination
(“RD”) that the Commission issue a general exclusion order and cease and desist orders against
Electronix Express and HandsOnTools and that the amount of bond for temporary importation
during the Presidential review period be set at 100 percent of the entered value of the articles
concerned.

On February 12, 2008, the Commission determined not to review the ID and requested
written submissions on the issues of remedy, the public interest, and bonding. On February 28
and March 6, 2008, respectively, complainant Fluke and the IA filed briefs and the IA filed a
reply brief on these issues as well as proposed remedial orders. This investigation is now before

the Commission for final disposition and determinations on remedy, the public interest, and

bonding.
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DISCUSSION
I REMEDY

A. Statutory Background and Criteria for Issuance of Remedial Orders

Upon finding a violation of section 337, the Commission may issue a remedial order
excluding the goods of the person(s) found in violation (a limited exclusion order) or, if certain
criteria are met, against all infringing goods regardless of the source (a general exclusion order).
It also may issue cease and desist orders to respondents, ordering the respondents to cease their
unfair activities, such as importing, marketing, and selling the infringing goods.

Depending on the circumstances, the Commission’s authority to issue a general exclusion
order may be found in section 337(d)(2) or 337(g)(2).

Section 337(d)(2) provides that:

The authority of the Commission to issue an exclusion from entry of articles shall

be limited to persons determined by the Commission to be violating this section

unless the Commission determines that--

(A) ageneral exclusion from entry of articles is necessary to prevent

circumvention of an exclusion order limited to products of named persons;

or

(B) there is a pattern of violation of this section and it is difficult to identify
the source of infringing products.

19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(2).
Section 337(g)(2) provides that:

In addition to the authority of the Commission to issue a general exclusion from
entry of articles when a respondent appears to contest an investigation concerning
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a violation of the provisions of this section, a general exclusion from entry of
articles, regardless of the source or importer of the articles, may be issued if--

(A)  no person appears to contest an investigation concerning a violation of the
provisions of this section,

(B)  such a violation is established by substantial, reliable, and probative
evidence, and

(C)  the requirements of subsection (d)(2) of this section are met.
19 U.S.C. § 1337(g)(2).

Read together, section 337(g)(2) supplements the authority granted to the Commission
under section 337(d)(2), empowering it to issue a general exclusion order when “no person
appears to contest an investigation concerning violation of this section,” if certain conditions are
met. Given that several respondents have appeared to contest the current investigation, and have
settled with complainant or entered into consent orders, the Commission’s authority to issue a
general exclusion order in this investigation arises under section 337(d)(2). The standards for
finding a violation of 337 under section 337(d)(2) are the same as those for finding a violation
under 337(g)(2). See Certain Sildenafil or any Pharmaceutically Acceptable Salt Thereof, such
as Sildenafil Citrate, and Products Containing Same, Inv. 337-TA-489, Comm’n Op. at 5 (Feb.
2004) (violation of 337 under section 337(d) must be supported by “reliable, probative, and
substantial evidence”; there is no difference between this standard and the “substantial, reliable,
and probative evidence” standard of 337(g)(2)).

The Commission has noted in previous cases that the criteria of section 337(d)(2) “do not

differ significantly” from the factors in Certain Airless Paint Spray Pumps and Components
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Thereof, Inv. 337-TA-90, USITC Pub. 1199, 216 U.S.P.Q. 465 (USITC 1981) (“Spray Pumps”).
Certain Neodymium-Iron-Boron Magnets, Magnet Alloys, and Articles Containing Same, Inv.
No. 337-TA-372, USITC Pub. 2694 (May 1996), Comm’n Op. at 5 (“Neodymium-Iron-Boron
Magnets”). The Federal Circuit has clarified that section 337(d)(2) is not an adoption of the
Commission’s policy objectives expressed in Spray Pumps, but rather was added to the statute to
comply with obligations under the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade. See Vastfame
Camera, Ltd. v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 386 F.3d 1108, 1113 (Fed. Cir. 2004). Nonetheless, the
Spray Pumps factors are still useful in determining whether to issue a general exclusion order,
though care must be taken to ensure the statutory criteria are met.

In Spray Pumps, the Commission held that a complainant seeking a general exclusion
order must show both (1) a widespread pattern of unauthorized use of its patented invention and
(2) certain business conditions from which one might reasonably infer that foreign manufacturers
other than the respondents to the investigation may attempt to enter the U.S. market with
infringing articles. Spray Pumps, 216 U.S.P.Q. at 473. The Commission stated that the evidence
which might be presented to prove a “widespread pattern of unauthorized use of the patented
invention” included:

(1)  a Commission determination of unauthorized importation into the United
States of infringing articles by numerous foreign manufacturers; or

2) the pendency of foreign infringement suits based upon foreign patents
which correspond to the domestic patent in issue;

(3)  other evidence which demonstrates a history of unauthorized use of the
patented invention.
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Spray Pumps, 216 U.S.P.Q. at 473.
The Commission determined that evidence which might be presented to prove the
“business conditions” criterion included:

(1) an established demand for the patented product in the U.S. market and
conditions of the world market;

(2) the availability of marketing and distribution networks in the United States
for potential foreign manufacturers;

(3)  the cost to foreign entrepreneurs of building a facility capable of producing
the patented article;

(4)  the number of foreign manufacturers whose facilities could be retooled to
produce the patented articles; or

(5)  the cost to foreign manufacturers of retooling their facility to produce the
patented articles.

Spray Pumps, 216 U.S.P.Q. at 473.

Although Spray Pumps involved claims of patent infringement, the Commission has
applied the same test with respect to trademark infringement. Certain Agricultural Tractors and
Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-487, Comm’n Op. 7-8 (“The criteria and factors set forth
in Spray Pumps apply mutatis mutandis to trademark cases.”); Certain Cigarettes and Packaging
Therefor, Inv. No. 337-TA-424, USITC Pub. No. 3366 (Nov. 2000), Comm’n Op.at 6-7. The
statutory provisions of section 337(d)(2), of course, apply to all investigations under section 337.

The Commission may, in lieu of or in addition to an exclusion order, issue a cease and
desist order directing persons found to have violated section 337 “to cease and desist from

engaging in the unfair methods or acts involved.” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f). Cease and desist orders
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are warranted with respect to domestic respondents that maintain commercially significant U.S.
inventories of the infringing product. See, e.g., Certain Crystalline Cefadroxil Monohydrate,
Inv. No. 337-TA-293, USITC Pub. 2391 at 37- 42 (June 1991). Domestic respondents who have
defaulted are presumed to maintain significant inventories of infringing products in the United
States and thus may be subject to cease and desist orders. Certain Video Game Systems, Inv. No.
337-TA-473, Comm’n Op. at 2 (December 2,2002); Certain Agricultural Tractors, Inv. No.
337-TA-380, USITC Pub. 3026 at 32, n.124 (March 1997).

B. The ALJ’s RD

As part of his ID finding a violation of section 337 (Order No. 22), the ALJ issued an RD.
In his RD, the ALJ addressed the requirements f01; the issuance of a general exclusion order that
appear in section 337(d)(2) and made findings that bear directly on those additional requirements,
couching much of his analysis in terms of Spray Pumps.

With respect to the “widespread pattern of unauthorized use” criterion, the ALJ found
that Fluke had demonstrated the existence of a widespread pattern of violation with respect to the
registered trademark at issue. ID at 21-22. The ALJ noted evidence that the accused products
are widely available in large quantities for sale throughout the country, in sales catalogs,
brochures and websites. Fluke identified numerous foreign suppliers that specialize in
manufacturing the infringing products and noted that it was often unable to identify the foreign
manufacturer of an infringing product. The ALJ also noted that the IA has identified several

district court actions resulting in findings of infringement of Fluke’s mark. ID at 21.
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With respect to the “business conditions” criterion, the ALJ reviewed the evidence which
showed that Fluke digital multimeters are popular products with great demand and that there are
numerous infringers that have extensive inventories of infringing products that are offered for
sale within an established network that includes the internet, mass-mailed catalogs, and
brochures. ID at 21. The ALJ noted evidence that it is not difficult for foreign entities to gain
access to the U.S. market. Many foreign manufacturers that currently produce non-infringing
digital multimeters would be able to quickly and inexpensively start manufacturing infringing
digital multimeters that bear Fluke’s color combination trademark and trade dress because of the
relative ease and minimal increased costs involved in changing the color of the resin used to
make the packaging that encloses the electrical and electronic components of the digital
multimeters. ID at 21.

Based on these representations, the ALJ found the “widespread pattern” and “business
conditions” criteria of Spray Pumps to be satisfied, and he therefore recommended that the
Commission issue a general exclusion order if it found a violation of section 337. ID at 13.

With respect to the appropriateness of cease and desist orders, the ALJ found that the two
domestic respondents Electronix Express and HandsOnTools maintain significant inventories of
digital multimeters in the United States. He thus concluded that cease and desist orders are

warranted against those two respondents. ID at 23.
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C. Parties’ Submissions

Both Fluke and the IA agree that a general exclusion order should issue and that cease
and desist orders should be directed to the defaulting domestic respondents. Citing the relevant
findings of the ALJ, Fluke and the TA agree that there is a widespread pattern of unauthorized use
of the protected mark and trade dress and that certain business conditions exist from which one
might reasonably infer that foreign manufacturers other than the respondents may attempt to
enter the U.S. market with infringing goods. Fluke’s Submission on Remedy of February 28,
2008 (Fluke Br.) at 7-16; IA’s Brief on Remedy of February 28, 2008 (IA Br.) at 3-6.

The IA also submits, in his reply brief, that it has been routine to include a reporting
provision in such orders (as the IA proposes) to apprise the Commission at the earliest possible
time as to whether a particular trademark or trade dress is no longer in use, and therefore, may be
subject to cancellation. IA Reply Br. at 2-3.

D. Analysis and Determination

We agree with the ALJ and the parties that the requirements for the issuance of a general
exclusion order pursuant to section 337(d)(2) have been met. The record indicates that
unauthorized uses have occurred in the importation and sale of infringing products manufactured
by the respondents and numerous other multimeter producers. The record also shows an
established U.S. market for goods practicing the trademark and trade dress at issue, and the
availability of U.S. marketing and distribution networks for such goods. ID at 21. The ALJ’s

findings that there is a widespread pattern of unauthorized use and that certain business
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conditions make it likely that other foreign producers will enter the U.S. market with infringing
articles make it apparent that the statutory criteria for issuance of a general exclusion order have
been satisfied.

Further, we agree with the IA’s recommendation that there be a reporting requirement and
therefore have determined to issue a general exclusion order including a reporting provision to
require Fluke to show that it continues to use the trademark and trade dress at issue in U.S.
commerce and that they have not been abandoned, canceled, or rendered invalid or
unenforceable.

As the ALJ found, domestic respondents HandsOnTools and Electronix Express
defaulted during the course of the investigation. Domestic respondents who have defaulted are
presumed to maintain significant inventories of infringing products in the United States and are
likewise subject to cease and desist orders. Certain Video Game Systems, Inv. No. 337-TA-473,
Comm’n Op. at 2 (December 2, 2002); Certain Agricultural Tractors, Inv. No. 337-TA-380,
USITC Pub. 3026 at 32 n.124 (March 1997). We see no reason to depart from Commission
practice or the ALJ’s recommendation, and we thefefore have determined to issue cease and
desist orders to these two defaulting domestic respondents.

III. THE PUBLIC INTEREST

In addition to the criteria discussed above, the Commission’s authority to issue any

exclusion order is conditioned on consideration of the public interest. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1).

Specifically, on finding a violation, the Commission may issue an exclusion order unless
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after considering the effect of such exclusion upon the public health and welfare,

competitive conditions in the United States economy, the production of like or

directly competitive articles in the United States, and United States consumers, it

finds that such articles should not be excluded from entry.

Similarly, the Commission may elect not to issue a cease and desist order if it finds that such an
order would be contrary to the public interest. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f). The public interest analysis
does not concern whether there is a public interest in issuing a remedial order, but whether
issuance of such an order will adversely affect the public interest. Certain Agricultural Vehicles,
Inv. No. 337-TA-487, Comm’n Op. at 17.

Fluke notes that excluding respondents’ infringing digital multimeters and products with
multimeter functionality will not harm the public interest because these products do not directly
affect the public health or welfare, and such products are not the type that have raised public
interest concerns in the past. It also contends that competition policy in the United States favors
the protection of United States intellectual property rights and that the United States market for
digital multimeters can easily be supplied by Fluke and other non-infringing alternatives. See
Fluke Br. at 17-18.

The IA similarly argues that entry of a general exclusion order would not be contrary to
the public interest. The IA agrees with Fluke that there is no evidence that U.S. demand for the
digital multimeters cannot be met by Fluke and its legitimate competitors, i.e., manufacturers and
retailers of digital multimeters that do not infringe Fluke’s trademark or trade dress. IA Br. at 8.

The IA submits that the sole effect of a general exclusion order would be to exclude infringing

look-alike devices. IA Br. at 8. Lastly, the IA observes that digital multimeters bearing Fluke’s

11
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color combination trademark and trade dress are simply not the types of products that raise any
particular public interest concerns. IA Br. at 9.

The Commission is not aware of any evidence on the record indicating that the issuance
of a general exclusion in this investigation would be contrary to the public interest. The
exclusion order and cease and desist orders only bar entry of infringing digital multimeters, i.e.,
those bearing a particular trademark or trade dress. Non-infringing digital multimeters may still
be imported. The record indicates that U.S. demand for digital multimeters can be met by Fluke
and its non-infringing competitors.

IV. BOND DURING PERIOD OF PRESIDENTIAL REVIEW

During the 60-day period of Presidential review, imported articles otherwise subject to a
remedial order are entitled to conditional entry under bond, pursuant to section 337(j)(3). 19
U.S.C. § 1337(j)(3). The amount of the bond is specified by the Commission and must be an
amount sufficient to protect the complainant from any injury. /d., 19 C.F.R. § 210.50(2a)(3).

The ALJ noted that Fluke asserted that there is no fixed difference between what the
various respondents charge for their infringing products as each respondent sets its price
differently. In circumstances where price comparisons would be complicated and difficult, the
ALJ indicated that the Commission has typically set the bond at 100 percent of the entered value
of the infringing imported products. ID at 23-24. Accordingly, the ALJ recommended a bond of
100 percent of the entered value of respondents’ accused products during the Presidential review

period.
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Both Fluke and the IA agree with the ALJ’s recommendation that, in the absence of clear

price differentials between Fluke’s products and the infringing imports, a bond of 100 percent of
entered value should be entered. See Fluke Br. at 19; IA Br. at 10.

We find that the record lacks sufficient information to calculate the difference in price
between Fluke’s digital multimeters and the infringing products. As noted by the ALJ, the record
does not indicate clear differences in price between the two. When the pricing information is
unclear, the Commission has set the amount of the bond at 100 percent of entered value. See
Neodymium-Iron-Boron Magnets, Inv. No. 337-TA-372, USITC Pub. 2694 (May 1996),
Comm’n Op. at 15. In accordance with the recommendation of the ALJ and Commission
precedent, we determine to set the bond at 100 percent of the entered value of infringing digital

multimeters during the 60-day Presidential review period.

Hie

Marilyn R. Abbott
Secretary to the Commission

By order of the Commission.

Issued: June 3, 2008

13



CERTAIN DIGITAL MULTIMETERS, AND PRODUCTS 337-TA-588
WITH MULTIMETER FUNCTIONALITY

PUBILC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Marilyn R. Abbott, hereby certify that the attached COMMISSION OPINION has

been served by hand upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Anne Goalwin, Esq.,
and the following parties as indicated, on June 4, 2008

éfilyn RL Abbott, Secretary :}\/ 6
U.S. International Trade Commission

500 E Street, SW
Washington, DC 20436

ON BEHALF OF COMPLAINANT FLUKE
CORPORATION:

Peter E. Moll, Esq. ( ) Via Hand Delivery

Cecilia H. Gonzalez, Esq.

John J. Rosenthal, Esq.
HOWREY LLP

1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20004
P-202-783-0800

RESPONDENTS:

HandsOnTools
1001-A E Harmony Rd., Suite 332
Fort Collins, Colorado 80525

Electronix Express

a division of R.S.R. Electronics, Inc.

365 Blair Road
Avenel, NJ 07001

Via Overnight Mail
: ) Via First Class Mail
(') Other:

( ) Via Hand Delivery
(X Via Overnight Mail
( ' Via First Class Mail
( j Other:

( ) Via Hand Delivery
()Q Via Overnight Mail
¢ " Via First Class Mail
( ) Other:



Page 2 — Certificate of Service

Sherry Robinson
LEXIS-NEXIS

8891 Gander Creek Drive
Miamiburg, OH 45342

Ronnita Green

West Group

901 Fifteenth Street, NW
Suite 230

Washington, DC 20005

( ) Via Hand Delivery
(A Via Overnight Mail
(" ; Via First Class Mail
() Other:

( ) Via Hand Delivery
?Q Via Overnight Mail

.+ Via First Class Mail
( ) Other:






UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of
CERTAIN DIGITAL MULTIMETERS, Investigation No. 337-TA-588
AND PRODUCTS WITH MULTIMETER
FUNCTIONALITY

NOTICE OF COMMISSION DETERMINATION NOT TO REVIEW AN INITIAL
DETERMINATION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE GRANTING
COMPLAINANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY DETERMINATION OF VIOLATION

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined not to review the initial determination (“ID”) of the presiding administrative law
judge (“ALJ”) granting complainant’s motion for summary determination of violation of section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“section 337”), as to four
defaulting respondents in the above-captioned investigation.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: James A. Worth, Office of the General
Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436,
telephone (202) 205-3065. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this
investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45 a.m. to
5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street,
S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information concerning the
Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server (http./www.usitc.gov). The
public record for this investigation may be viewed on the Commission's electronic docket (EDIS)
at http.//edis.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this matter can
be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission instituted this investigation on
November 13, 2006, based on a complaint filed on October 6, 2006, and supplemented on
October 27 and 30, 2006, by Fluke Corp. of Everett, Washington, alleging violations of section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation,
and the sale within the United States after importation of certain digital multimeters and products
with multimeter functionality by reason of infringement of United States Trademark Registration
No. 2,796,480 and also by reason of infringement of trade dress, the threat or effect of which is to
destroy or substantially injure an industry in the United States. 71 Fed. Reg. 661940 (November
13, 2006). Complainant requested that the Commission issue a general exclusion order and cease



and desist orders. The complaint named eighteen respondents in China, Hong Kong, and the
United States. Fourteen respondents were terminated from the investigation by settlement
agreement, consent order, or both. The four remaining respondents have been found in default.

On July 3, 2007, complainant filed a motion seeking summary determination of violation
of section 337. Complainant also requested that the ALJ recommend a general exclusion order,
cease and desist orders against respondents HandsOnTools and Electronix Express, and a 100
percent bond for entry the Presidential review period. On July 13, 2007, the Commission
investigative attorney filed a response in support of the motion, supplemented on July 18. No
other responses were received.

On January 14, 2008, the ALJ issued the subject ID (Order No. 22) granting
complainant’s motion for summary determination of a violation of section 337 as to the four
defaulting respondents. He recommended issuance of a general exclusion order, issuance of
cease and desist orders against Electronix Express and HandsOnTools, and that the amount of
bond for temporary importation during the Presidential review period be set at 100 percent of the
entered value of the articles concerned. No petitions for review were filed and the Commission
has determined not to review the ID.

In connection with the final disposition of this investigation, the Commission may (1)
issue an order that could result in the exclusion of the subject articles from entry into the United
States, and/or (2) issue one or more cease and desist orders that could result in respondents being
required to cease and desist from engaging in unfair acts in the importation and sale of such
articles. Accordingly, the Commission is interested in receiving written submissions that address
the form of remedy, if any, that should be ordered. If a party seeks exclusion of an article from
entry into the United States for purposes other than entry for consumption, the party should so
indicate and provide information establishing that activities involving other types of entry either
are adversely affecting it or likely to do so. For background, see In the Matter of Certain Devices
for Connecting Computers via Telephone Lines, Inv. No. 337-TA-360, USITC Pub. No. 2843
(December 1994) (Commission Opinion).

If the Commission contemplates some form of remedy, it must consider the effects of that
remedy upon the public interest. The factors the Commission will consider include the effect
that an exclusion order and/or cease and desist orders would have on (1) the public health and
welfare, (2) competitive conditions in the U.S. economy, (3) U.S. production of articles that are
like or directly competitive with those that are subject to investigation, and (4) U.S. consumers.
The Commission is therefore interested in receiving written submissions that address the
aforementioned public interest factors in the context of this investigation.

If the Commission orders some form of remedy, the U.S. Trade Representative, as
delegated by the President, has 60 days to approve or disapprove the Commission's action. See
Presidential Memorandum of July 21, 2005, 70 Fed. Reg. 43251 (July 26, 2005). During this
period, the subject articles would be entitled to enter the United States under bond, in an amount
determined by the Commission and prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury. The
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Commission is therefore interested in receiving submissions concerning the amount of the bond
that should be imposed if a remedy is ordered.

WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS: Parties to the investigation, interested government agencies, and
any other interested parties are encouraged to file written submissions on the issues of remedy,
the public interest, and bonding. Such submissions should be no more than twenty-five (25)
pages and should address the recommended determination by the ALJ on remedy and bonding.
The complainant and the Commission investigative attorney are also requested to submit
proposed remedial orders for the Commission's consideration. Complainant is also requested to
state the HTSUS numbers under which the accused products are imported. The written
submissions and proposed remedial orders must be filed no later than close of business on
February 28, 2008. Reply submissions must be filed no later than the close of business on March
6, 2008. No further submissions on these issues will be permitted unless otherwise ordered by
the Commission.

Persons filing written submissions must file the original document and 12 true copies
thereof on or before the deadlines stated above with the Office of the Secretary. Any person
desiring to submit a document to the Commission in confidence must request confidential
treatment unless the information has already been granted such treatment during the proceedings.
All such requests should be directed to the Secretary of the Commission and must include a full
statement of the reasons why the Commission should grant such treatment. See 19 C.F.R. §
201.6. Documents for which confidential treatment by the Commission is sought will be treated
accordingly. All nonconfidential written submissions will be available for public inspection at
the Office of the Secretary.

The authority for the Commission's determination is contained in section 337 of the Tariff

Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, and in sections 210.42-46 of the Commission's
Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.42-46.

Marilyn R. Ab

Secretary to the Commission

By order of the Commission.

Issued: February 12, 2008
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of

CERTAIN DIGITAL MULTIMETERS, Investigation No. 337-TA-588

AND PRODUCTS WITH MULTIMETER
FUNCTIONALITY

NOTICE OF A COMMISSION DETERMINATION NOT TO REVIEW AN INITIAL
DETERMINATION FINDING ONE RESPONDENT IN DEFAULT

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined not to review an initial determination (“ID”) of the presiding administrative law
judge (“ALJ”) in the above-captioned investigation finding a respondent in default.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Michael K. Haldenstein, Office of the
General Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C.
20436, telephone (202) 708-2301. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection
with this investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45
a.m. to 5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E
Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information
concerning the Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at
http://www.usite.gov. The public record for this investigation may be viewed on the
Commission’s electronic docket (EDIS) at fittp.//edis.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are
advised that information on this matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD
terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: This investigation was instituted on November 13,
2006, based on a complaint filed by Fluke Corporation (“Fluke”) of Everett, Washington. The
complaint, as supplemented, alleges violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19
U.S.C. § 1337) in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, and the sale
within the United States after importation of certain digital multimeters and products with
multimeter functionality by reason of infringement of United States Trademark Registration No.
2,796,480 and also by infringement of trade dress, the threat or effect of which is to destroy or
substantially injure an industry in the United States. The complaint further alleges that an
industry exists in the United States with respect to the asserted intellectual property rights. The
complainant requests that the Commission issue a permanent general exclusion order and
permanent cease and desist orders. The complaint named Altadox, Inc. of Arcadia, California;



and desist orders. The complaint named eighteen respondents in China, Hong Kong, and the
United States. Fourteen respondents were terminated from the investigation by settlement
agreement, consent order, or both. The four remaining respondents have been found in default.

On July 3, 2007, complainant filed a motion seeking summary determination of violation
of section 337. Complainant also requested that the ALJ recommend a general exclusion order,
cease and desist orders against respondents HandsOnTools and Electronix Express, and a 100
percent bond for entry the Presidential review period. On July 13, 2007, the Commission
investigative attorney filed a response in support of the motion, supplemented on July 18. No
other responses were received.

On January 14, 2008, the ALJ issued the subject ID (Order No. 22) granting
complainant’s motion for summary determination of a violation of section 337 as to the four
defaulting respondents. He recommended issuance of a general exclusion order, issuance of
cease and desist orders against Electronix Express and HandsOnTools, and that the amount of
bond for temporary importation during the Presidential review period be set at 100 percent of the
entered value of the articles concerned. No petitions for review were filed and the Commission
has determined not to review the ID.

In connection with the final disposition of this investigation, the Commission may (1)
issue an order that could result in the exclusion of the subject articles from entry into the United
States, and/or (2) issue one or more cease and desist orders that could result in respondents being
required to cease and desist from engaging in unfair acts in the importation and sale of such
articles. Accordingly, the Commission is interested in receiving written submissions that address
the form of remedy, if any, that should be ordered. If a party seeks exclusion of an article from
entry into the United States for purposes other than entry for consumption, the party should so
indicate and provide information establishing that activities involving other types of entry either
are adversely affecting it or likely to do so. For background, see In the Matter of Certain Devices
for Connecting Computers via Telephone Lines, Inv. No. 337-TA-360, USITC Pub. No. 2843
(December 1994) (Commission Opinion).

If the Commission contemplates some form of remedy, it must consider the effects of that
remedy upon the public interest. The factors the Commission will consider include the effect
that an exclusion order and/or cease and desist orders would have on (1) the public health and
welfare, (2) competitive conditions in the U.S. economy, (3) U.S. production of articles that are
like or directly competitive with those that are subject to investigation, and (4) U.S. consumers.
The Commission is therefore interested in receiving written submissions that address the
aforementioned public interest factors in the context of this investigation.

If the Commission orders some form of remedy, the U.S. Trade Representative, as
delegated by the President, has 60 days to approve or disapprove the Commission's action. See
Presidential Memorandum of July 21, 2005, 70 Fed. Reg. 43251 (July 26, 2005). During this
period, the subject articles would be entitled to enter the United States under bond, in an amount
determined by the Commission and prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury. The
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Commission is therefore interested in receiving submissions concerning the amount of the bond
that should be imposed if a remedy is ordered.

WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS: Parties to the investigation, interested government agencies, and
any other interested parties are encouraged to file written submissions on the issues of remedy,
the public interest, and bonding. Such submissions should be no more than twenty-five (25)
pages and should address the recommended determination by the ALJ on remedy and bonding.
The complainant and the Commission investigative attorney are also requested to submit
proposed remedial orders for the Commission's consideration. Complainant is also requested to
state the HTSUS numbers under which the accused products are imported. The written
submissions and proposed remedial orders must be filed no later than close of business on
February 28, 2008. Reply submissions must be filed no later than the close of business on March
6, 2008. No further submissions on these issues will be permitted unless otherwise ordered by
the Commission.

Persons filing written submissions must file the original document and 12 true copies
thereof on or before the deadlines stated above with the Office of the Secretary. Any person
desiring to submit a document to the Commission in confidence must request confidential
treatment unless the information has already been granted such treatment during the proceedings.
All such requests should be directed to the Secretary of the Commission and must include a full
statement of the reasons why the Commission should grant such treatment. See 19 C.F.R. §
201.6. Documents for which confidential treatment by the Commission is sought will be treated
accordingly. All nonconfidential written submissions will be available for public inspection at
the Office of the Secretary.

The authority for the Commission's determination is contained in section 337 of the Tariff

Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, and in sections 210.42-46 of the Commission's
Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. §§ 210.42-46.

Marilyn R. Ab

Secretary to the Commission

By order of the Commission.

Issued: February 12, 2008
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I. Background

On July 3, 2007, Complainant Fluke Corporation (“Fluke”) filed a motion (588-021) for
summary determination concerning violation of Section 337, Remedy, Bonding and the Public
Interest. On July 13, 2007, the Commission Investigative Staff (“Staff”) filed a response in support
of the motion. No other responses were received. On July 18, 2007, Staff filed an unopposed
motion (588-022) to supplement/clarify its response, which is hereby granted.

On October 6, 2006, Fluke filed a complaint with the Commission pursuant to Section 337
of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337. The complaint, which was supplemented
on October 27" and 30™, alleged violations of Section 337 by all named respondents in connection
with the importation, sale for importation, and sale within the United States after importation of
certain digital multimeters (“DMMs”) and products with multimeter functionality by reason of
infringement of U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480 (“the ‘480 mark™) and also by reason
of infringement of trade dress, the threat or effect of which is to destroy or substantially injure an
industry in the United States. On November 6, 2006, the Commission issued a Notice of
Investigation that was subsequently published in the Federal Register on November 13, 2006.'

The Notice of Investigation listed eighteen entities as respondents. Of these, four were found
to be in default. The four defaulting respondents are as follows: HandsOnTools, Shenzhen Hongda
Electronic Co., Ltd. (“Hongda™), Sinometer Instruments Co. Ltd. (“Sinometer”), and Electronix
Express, a division of R.S.R. Electronics, Inc. (“Electronix™).? The other fourteen respondents were

terminated from this investigation as follows:

! See 71 Fed. Reg. 66,195.
2 See Order No. 8 (March 1, 2007) and Commission Notice (March 28, 2007), Order No. 15
(May 17, 2007) and Commission Notice (June 14, 2007).
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By Settlement Agreement:  Jameco Electronics (“Jameco™)?
Circuit Specialists, Inc. (“Circuit Specialists™)*
Digitek Instruments Co. (“Digitek™) and Electronic Specialties, Inc.
(“Electronic Specialties”)’; and
Central Purchasing LLC and Harbor Freight Tools (collectively
“Harbor Freight”).®

By Consent Order: Elenco Electronics, Inc. (“Elenco”);’
Altadox, Inc. (“Altadox’), Techbuys, LLC (“Techbuys”), and Kaito
Electronics, Inc. (“Kaito™);® and
Precision Mastech Enterprises Co. (“Mastech”), Shenzhen Everbest
Machinery Industry Co. (“Everbest™), and Shenzhen Victor Hi-Tech
Co., Ltd. (“Victor Hi-Tech”).’

By Settlement Agreement  Velleman, Inc. (“Velleman™)'’; and
and Consent Order: Parts Express, International (“Parts Express™)."!

Thus, none of the named respondents have contested Fluke’s allegations that they have violated and
continue to violate Section 337.

Fluke’s motion seeks, in addition to a summary determination of a Section 337 violation and
the existence of a domestic industry, the entry of a general exclusion order against all infringing

digital multimeters."

3 See Order No. 12 (May 1, 2007) and Commission Notice (May 24, 2007).

4 See Order No. 13 (May 1, 2007) and Commission Notice (May 24, 2007).

* See Order No. 18 (June 14, 2007) and Commission Notice (July 3, 2007).

¢ See Order No. 21 (July 31, 2007) and Commission Notice (August 30, 2007).
7 See Order No. 9 (April 30, 2007) and Commission Notice (May 24, 2007).

8 See Order No. 11 (April 30, 2007) and Commission Notice (May 22, 2007).

? See Order No. 19 (July 18, 2007) and Commission Notice (August 10, 2007).
19 See Order No. 14 (May 10, 2007) and Commission Notice (May 31, 2007).
"' See Order No. 17 (June 14, 2007) and Commission Notice (July 3, 2007).

12 See Memorandum at 58-66.
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IL Legal Standards

The standards for granting a motion for summary determination under 19 C.F.R. § 210.18(a)
are well-recognized and need no repetition here.” It is useful to note that, for the purposes of the
instant motion, the Commission’s Rules require an appropriate, properly supported, unopposed
motion for summary determination to be granted.'*

Under Section 337(d)(1), if the Commission determines as a result of an investigation that
there is a violation of Section 337, the Commission is authorized to issue exclusion orders after
considering certain public interest factors."> Section 337(d)(2) further provides that exclusion orders
are to be “limited to persons determined by the Commission to be violating this section”-that is,
limited exclusion orders—unless the Commission finds that a general exclusion order against all
unfairly imported accused products, regardless of the identity of the importer, either (i) “is necessary
to prevent circumvention of an exclusion order limited to products of named persons” or (ii) is
required because “there is a pattern of violation of this section and it is difficult to identify the source
of infringing products.”’® The conditions set forth in subsection (d)(2) are referred to generally as
the “Spray Pumps” factors, after the Section 337 investigation that established them prior to their
1988 codification into that subsection.'”” The Commission has held that the requirements of

subsection (d)(2) are, for all intents and purposes, the same as those that the Commission articulated

13 See 19 C.F.R. §210.18(b); also see, e.g., Anchor Wall Systems, Inc. v. Rockwood Retaining
Walls, Inc., 340 F.3d 1298, 1306 (Fed. Cir. 2003) (“Anchor”™).

14 See 19 C.F.R. § 210.18(c) (“If the opposing party does not so respond, a summary
determination, if appropriate, shall be rendered against the opposing party.” (emphasis added)).

13 See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1).

16 See 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(2).

17 Certain Airless Paint Spray Pumps and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-90, USITC
Pub. No. 1199, Commission Opinion, 216 U.S.P.Q. 465 (U.S.I.T.C., November 1981) (“Spray
Pumps ™).

A



in Spray Pumps.'® The Commission has found that in an investigation where there are defaulting
and settling respondents, the Commission has the authority to issue a general exclusion order under
Section 337(d)(2)."”
ML Discussion

As to the substance of the motion, Fluke has amply established by “reliable, probative, and
substantial evidence™® that a violation has occurred and continues to occur, and that the Spray
Pumps conditions for issuing a general exclusion order are present in this case. Fluke’s motion
include declarations from three individuals, including: (1) James Cavoretto, Senior Vice President
and Chief Technology Officer for Fluke,” (2) Robert D. Thikoll, Associate Vice President for
Research at the University of Texas at Austin,?” and (3) Dr. Robert A. Peterson, Vice President of
Worldwide Operations at Fluke.” In addition, Fluke has submitted a statement of undisputed
material facts which includes 262 statements of fact, none of which Staff objects to. Accordingly,
as there are no objections to the proposed statement of Undisputed material facts, they are hereby

fully adopted by the undersigned and attached hereto as Appendix A.

18 See Certain Neodymium-Iron-Boron Magnets, Magnet Alloys, and Articles Containing
Same, Inv.No. 337-TA-372, USITC Pub. No. 2964, Commission Opinion at 5-6, 1996 WL 1056324
(U.S.LT.C., May 1996) (“Magnets”).

1° See Certain Sildenafil or any Pharmaceutically Acceptable Salt Thereof, such as Sildenafil
Citrate, and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-489, Commission Opinion (February 6,
2004) (“Sildenafil).

2 See 5 U.S.C. § 556.

21 Exhibit 1 (Cavoretto Declaration).

22 Exhibit 8 (Thikoll Declaration).

2 Exhibit 57 (Peterson Declaration).



A.  Importation

Concerning importation of the accused products, the exhibits, which include receipts and
packaging samples, demonstrate that each of the defaulting respondents has imported accused digital
multimeters and products with multimeter functionality into the United States.”* Staff concurs with
these findings.”

While Fluke also asserts that there is no dispute that the settled respondents also import the
accused articles into the United States,” Staff notes that the activities of a settled respondent cannot
provide a basis for a determination of violation of Section 337.2” The undersigned agrees with Staff
and only addresses importation by the defaulting respondents. The undersigned finds that, based on
the evidence presented, there is no genuine issue of material fact with respect to whether the accused
articles have been imported into the United States by the defaulting respondents.

B. Registered Trademark and Trade Dress

1. The Mark
U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,796,480 (“the ‘480 mark™) was registered on December
23,2003.%® Fluke is the owner of the ‘480 mark that “consists of the colors dark gray and yellow as

applied to the goods.” The description of goods associated with the trademark includes “electronic

24 See Memorandum at 22-23. For respondent HandsOnTools, see exhibits 14, 27, and 28.
For respondent Hongda, see exhibit 22, 29, and 30. For respondent Sinometer, see exhibit 21 and
31. For respondent Electronix Express, see exhibit 15 and 32.

 See Staff’s Response at 29-30.

% See Memorandum at 23-25. ,

?7 See Staff’s Response at 29 citing Certain Plastic Molding Machines with Control Systems
having Programmable Operating Interfaces Incorporating General Purpose Computers, and
Components Thereof I, Inv.No. 337-TA-462, Comm’n Op. at 19-22 (USITC Pub. 3,609, July 2003)
(“Plastic Molding ).

2% See Exhibit 1 (Cavoretto Dec.) at § 32, Exhibit 1-36.
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test and measuring instruments and devices, and portable electronic tests tools, namely, digital
multimeters.” According to Fluke, the Fluke trademark is encompassed within the breath of the
Fluke trade dress and refers to both as the “Fluke Mark.” While Staff asserts that Fluke’s registration
is less than five years of age and that the validity of the mark may be contested, Staff notes that the
‘480 mark is unchallenged in this investigation and therefore presumed to be valid.” The
undersigned agrees with Fluke and Staff that the Fluke trademark is valid®® and that Fluke’s
trademark is encompassed within Fluke’s trade dress.
2. Trade Dress

Fluke asserts that the Fluke trade dress consists of a contrasting color combination of dark-
colored body or face and a contrasting yellow border, frame, molding, overlay, holster or perimeter.
According to Fluke, the yellow surrounding the body or face of the product is referred to as “Fluke
Yellow.”! Staff agrees.*? Accordingly, the undersigned agrees that Fluke’s trade dress consists of
a contrasting color combination of dark-colored body or face and a contrasting yellow border, frame,
molding, overlay, holster or perimeter.

Fluke asserts that its trade dress is entitled to protection because it is nonfunctional and

distinctive, i.e., has acquired secondary meaning.*® Staff agrees.*

¥ See Staff’s Response at 6 citing 15 U.S.C. § 1065.

30 See Section III (E), infra.

3! See Exhibit 26.

32 See Staff’s Response at 6-7, 13-15 at n. 7. While Staff’s Response initially asserted that
Fluke’s trade dress should be limited to configurations where at least the majority of the border,
holder, and/or holster is of a contrasting yellow color, in its motion to supplement/clarify its
response, Staff withdrew the statement that the trade dress asserted by Fluke must be limited in light
of the partial yellow border around the Protek device. See Staff’s Supplemental Response at 2.

33 See Memorandum at 26.

34 See Staff’s Response at 8-16.



The party asserting a trade dress right bears the burden of establishing that the trade dress is
nonfunctional and distinctive.”> A feature of an alleged trade dress is functional and therefore not
entitled to protection where “the exclusive use of [the feature] would put competitors at a significant
non-reputation-related disadvantage.” An alleged trade dress is also deemed functional where “it
is essential to the use or purpose of the device or when it affects the cost or quality of the device.”’
The Commission has adopted the test set forth in Morton-Norwich,*® to determine “functionality”:

Morton-Norwich listed the following factors as relevant consideration in determining

functionality: (1) whether the utilitarian advantages of the design are touted in

advertising; (2) whether the particular design results from a comparatively simple or

cheap method of manufacture; (3) whether there exists a utility patent which

discloses the utilitarian advantage of the design for which the burden of proving that

the matter sought to be protected is not functional production is sought; and (4)

whether commercial alternatives are available. The foregoing factors are aids in

determining functionality; no single factor is dispositive.*

As to nonfunctionality, Fluke asserts that under the four-part test set forth in Morton-
Norwich, there is no genuine dispute of material fact that the evidence shows that Fluke’s trade dress
is nonfunctional. Specifically, Fluke clarifies that it is not seeking to preclude the use of the color
yellow or dark gray on a DMM. Rather, Fluke is seeking to protect the distinct and unique

combination of those colors found on Fluke’s products. Accordingly, Fluke asserts that the relevant

inquiry is whether the particular combination of those colors on Fluke’s product is functional. Fluke

3315U.S.C. § 1125(a)(3); see Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Samara Brothers, Inc., 529 U.S. 205,
210-11 (2000) (“Wal-Mart”).

3% Traffix Devices, Inc. v. Marketing Displays, Inc., 523 U.S. 23, 43 (2001) (“Traffix
Devices”) citing Oualitex Co. v. Jacobson Products Co., 514 U.S. 159, 165 (1995) (“Oualitex™).

37 Traffix, 523 U.S. at 33, citing Oualitex, 514 U.S. at 159 and Inwood Laboratories v. Ives
Laboratories, Inc., 856 U.S. 844, 520, n. 10 (1982) (“Inwood”).

38 In re Morton-Norwich Products, Inc.,671 F. 2d 1332 (CCPA 1982) (“Morton-Norwich™).

¥ Certain Woodworking Machines, Inv. No. 337-TA-174, Comm’n Op. at 7-8 (USITC Pub.
1,979 1987) at 154 (“Woodworking Machines”™).
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asserts that, while it has spent millions on advertising its products, it has never touted the color
combination as having any utilitarian advantage.*

Staff agrees that the Fluke trade dress is non-functional.*! According to Staff, Fluke has never
advertised the color combination of its DMMs as having any utility, other than to identify Fluke as
the source of the device. Staff notes that, in two district court actions, Fluke’s color combination
trade dress/mark was expressly found to be “non-functional.” In addition, Staff notes that the
trademark registration is prima facie evidence of its non-functionality.*’

As to secondary meaning, Fluke asserts that its trade dress has acquired secondary meaning
under Commission precedent set forth in Certain Luggage Products, which includes examining the
following factors:

(1)  degree and manner of use;

(2)  exclusivity of use;

3) length of use;

4) degree and manner of sales, advertising and promotional activities;

(5) effectiveness of the effort to create secondary meaning;

(6) evidence of deliberate copying; and

(7)  evidence that actual purchasers associate the trade dress with a particular source.”

In addition, Fluke asserts that the Commission recognizes survey evidence as one of the most

common and persuasive means to establish secondary meaning.* Fluke also notes that evidence of

% See Memorandum at 33; Exhibit 1 (Cavoretto Dec.) at §q 28, 35; Exhibits 1-20, 1-23
through 1-28.

4 See Staff’s Response at 8.

2 See Staff’s Response at 8-9.

> Certain Luggage Products, Inv. No. 337-TA-243, Initial Determination at 28-29
(December 29, 1986) (“Luggage Products™); Certain Ink Markers & Packaging Thereof, Inv. No.
337-TA-522, Order No. 30 at (July 25, 2005) (“Ink Markers ™).

# See Memorandum at 27 citing Ink Markers, Order No. 30 at 27.
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extensive use and advertising over a substantial period of time may itself be sufficient to establish
secondary meaning.*
Based on the evidence, Fluke asserts that evidence of its extensive use and advertising over

a substantial period of time is sufficient to establish secondary meaning. Specifically, Fluke asserts

that it has sold [ ] of DMMs bearing the asserted trade dress during the
period 1988-2006, which includes sales of [ ] in the United States since 2002.% As
for advertising, Fluke asserts that it has spent [ ] promoting the Fluke trade dress

through a variety of media, including catalogues, trade shows, cooperative advertising with
wholesalers, and various promotional activities.*’

In addition to extensive use and advertising over a substantial period of time, Fluke also
submits survey evidence to support a finding of secondary meaning. Fluke asserts that, to evaluate
the credibility and reliability of consumer survey evidence, the Commission has relied upon the
following eight factors, referred to as the “Survey Factors™:

1) examination of the proper universe;

(2)  arepresentative sample drawn from the proper universe;

3) a correct mode of questioning interviewees;

(4)  recognized experts conducting the survey;

&) accurate reporting of data gathered;

(6) sample design, questionnaire, and interviewing in accordance with generally accepted
standards of objective procedure and statistics in the field of surveys;

(7)  sample design and interviews conducted independently of the attorneys; and

4 See Memorandum at 27 citing Clamp Mfg. Co. v. Enco Mfg. Co., 870 F.2d 512,517 (9"
Cir. 1989) (“Clamp”); Vision Sports, Inc. v. Melville Corp., 888 F.2d 609, 615 (9" Cir. 1989)
(“Vision Sports™).

4 See Memorandum at 27, Exhibit 1 (Cavoretto Dec) at §q 16, 21, 24.

47 See Memorandum at 27, Exhibit 1 (Cavoretto Dec) at § 29.

L



(8)  the interviewers, trained in this field, have no knowledge of the litigation or the purpose for
which the survey is to be used.*®

Fluke asserts that the report submitted by its expert, Dr. Peterson, meets the above survey
factors.* Specifically, Fluke asserts that Dr. Peterson surveyed the proper universe by targeting
individuals who were purchasers or potential purchasers of digital mulitmeters for profession
applications from eleven different metropolitan areas. From this universe, two independent samples
were surveyed.’® Based on the results of the survey, Fluke asserts that the Fluke trade dress has
acquired secondary meaning, as a minimum of 63% of the survey participants indicated that a
masked Fluke DMM was a Fluke DMM.*!

Staff agrees that the Fluke’s trade dress is distinctive and has acquired a secondary meaning
based on Fluke’s extensive advertising and sales, consumer studies, and the two district court
decisions in Fluke’s favor.*

The undersigned agrees with both Fluke and Staff that Fluke’s trade dress is entitled to
protection because it is nonfunctional and distinctivé, i.e., has acquired secondary meaning, based

on the standards set forth above.

8 See Judicial Conference of the United States Handbook of Recommended Procedures for
the Trial of Protracted Cases (West Ed. 1970); Ink Markers, Inv. No. 337-TA-522, Order No. 30 at
27-28, quoting Certain Two-Handle Centerset Faucets and Escutcheons, and Components Thereof,
Inv. No. 337- TA-422, Initial Determination at 23 (USITC Pub. 3332, July 2000) (“Faucets™).

4 See Memorandum at 28-30; Exhibit 8 (Peterson Dec).

50 See Memorandum at 29; Exhibit 8 (Peterson Dec.) at { 10-11; Exhibit 8-3-4.

3! See Memorandum at 30; Exhibit 8 (Peterson Dec.); Exhibit 8-3 and 8-7.

52 See Staff’s Response at 10-16.

-10-



i Infringement

The test for infringement of a trademark is whether the accused mark is “likely to cause
confusion, or to cause mistake or to deceive.”” The undersigned finds that Fluke’s motion
establishes, and Staff concurs, that there is a violation by reason of the respondents’ importation into
the United States, sale for importation in the United States, or sale within the United States after
importation, of certain digital multimeters and products with multimeter functionality that infringe
the ‘480 mark.*

For purposes of determining whether there is a likelihood of confusion, the Commission has
adopted the following factors set forth in the Restatement of Torts § 729, which were adopted in
Certain Strip Lights and Certain Chemiluminescent Compositions, including:

(a) the degree of similarity between the designation and the trademark or trade name in

(1) appearance,

(ii)  pronunciation of the words used;

(iii)  verbal translation of the pictures or designs involved; or

(iv)  suggestion;

(b) the intent of the actor in adopting the designation;

(c) the relation in use and manner of marketing between the goods and services marketed by the
actor and those marketed by the other; and

(d)  the degree of care likely to be exercised by purchasers.”

Fluke asserts that there is strong evidence that there is likelihood of confusion based on the

Restatement of Torts factors, as evidenced by Dr. Peterson’s survey.’® Specifically, as to the

similarity of the marks, Fluke asserts that the degree of similarity of respondents DMMs and Fluke’s

¥ 15U.S.C. § 1114(1).

34 See Memorandum at 39-45; Staff’s Response at 18-20.

55 See Certain Strip Lights, Inv. No. 337-TA-287, Unreviewed Initial Determination (June
27, 1989); Comm’n Order (September 28, 1989) (“Strip Lights”); Certain Chemiluminescent
Compositions and Components Thereof and Methods of Using, and Products Incorporating the
Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-285, USITC Pub. 2370, Comm’n Op. (March 1991) (“Chemiluminescent™).

56 See Memorandum at 39.
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DMMs are nearly identical.’” As to the intent of the actor, Fluke asserts that there is circumstantial
evidence that the defaulting respondents intended to trade on Fluke’s mark by selling products with
a dark-colored body and a yellow holster or frame.”® As to the assimilability in the use and manner
of marketing, Fluke asserts that the defaulting respondents’ DMMs and Fluke’s DMMs are marketed
to perform the same basic functionality and are sold through the same channels to the same
customers.*® As to the degree of care likely to be exercised, Fluke asserts that consumers of DMMs
and products with multimeter functionality are likely to vary in the level of sophistication, resulting
in varying levels of degree of care to be exercised by the purchaser.®® Fluke also asserts that the
survey evidence regarding the Chauvin Arnoux DMM further supports a finding of likelihood of
confusion.®!

Staff agrees with Fluke. According to Staff, with respect to the similarity of the marks, a
review of the comparison photographs of Fluke DMMs with those of the defaulting respondents
demonstrates a nearly identical appearance of devices. With respect to the intent of the actor, Staff
asserts that the respondents could have selected any color or combination of colors, but selected
Fluke’s color combination, which gives rise to circumstantial evidence of intent. With respect to the
similarity in the manner of marketing between the goods and services marketed by the actor and
those marketed by others, Staff asserts that Fluke has demonstrated that its products and those of the

defaulted respondents are marketed to perform the same type of functions and are sold through the

57 See Memorandum at 40-41; compare Physical Exhibit 1 from Complaint with Physical
Exhibits B (Sinometer), C (Hongda), D (Electronix Express), and E (HandsOnTools).

38 See Memorandum at 41-43.

% See Memorandum at 43-44; Exhibit 1 (Cavoretto Dec.)  36.

80 See Memorandum at 44.

61 See Memorandum at 44-45; Exhibit 8 (Peterson Dec.) at {25, 27-28.
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same channels of trade, targeting the samel customers. With respect to the degree of care likely to be
exercised, Staff agrees with Fluke that there is a varying level of degree of care exercised by the
purchaser, including individuals that use the devices in their professions as well as ordinary
consumers.” Furthermore, Staff agrees that the survey evidence supports a finding of likelihood of
confusion.” Based on all of the above, Staff agrees that Fluke has carried its burden of establishing
that there a likelihood of confusion between Fluke’s DMMs and the accused DMMs.%

The undersigned agrees that, under the Restatement of Torts factors set forth by Fluke and
Staff, that Fluke has carried its burden on trademark infringement that there is a likelihood of
confusion between the respondents’ DMMs and Fluke’s DMMSs. Furthermore, Fluke has shown that
its trade dress is nonfunctional and has achieved secondary meaning. As the ‘480 mark is very
similar to and is encompassed within the breath of Fluke’s trade dress, in considering likelihood of
confusion, it was only necessary for the undersigned to conduct a single infringement analysis, which
is applicable to both the Fluke’s trademark and trade dress.

D. Domestic Industry & Injury

Fluke’s motion, with Staff’s concurrence, demonstrates that a domestic industry exists that
practices the ‘480 mark in accordance with Section 337(a)(2) and (a)(3).*® Under Section 337, in
order to prove a violation of Section 337 in an investigation based on registered trademarks, a
complainant must demonstrate that a domestic industry exists or is in the process of being

established. An industry in the United States exists (1) if the domestic articles are “protected by the

62 See Staff’s Response at 19-20.

63